#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### Case No. 2008-CA-01815

#### WASTEWATER PLANT SERVICE CO., INC., Plaintiff-Appellant

v.

HARRISON COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY, Defendant - Appellee

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons and entities have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the judges of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

WASTEWATER PLANT SERVICE CO., APPELLANT

Statement of the Case
(i) Course of Proceedings 2
(ii) Statement of Facts 2
Summary of the Argument
Argument
Conclusion
Certificate of Service

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

. .

.

ŧ

i

i

į

Miss.Atty.Gen. Op. 12-3-90 (Harper) 18,21
MISS.CODE ANN. §31-3-15
Miss.Code Ann. §31-3-21(1)
MISS. CODE ANN. §31-7-13 subsection c(ii) 1,24,25
MISS. CODE ANN. §31-7-13 subsection d(i) 1,24,27
MISS. CODE ANN. §31-7-13 (d)(ii) 1,27,29

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES:**

i.

**ISSUE 1:** Did HCUA deviate from the requirements laid down in its Request for Proposals by giving a contract to a bidder who did not have a representative present at the mandatory pre-bid meeting?

**ISSUE 2:** Did HCUA violate MISS.CODE ANN. §31-3-15 and MISS.CODE ANN. §31-3-21 by accepting a bid submitted by two corporations acting "in association" when, under the terms of the bid:

12% of the work would be performed by a corporation which had a certificate of responsibility;

and

88% of the work would be performed by a corporation which did NOT have a certificate of responsibility?

**ISSUE 3:** Did HCUA violate MISS. CODE ANN. §31-7-13 subsection c(ii) and subsection d(i) by awarding a bid based on the perception that the chosen bidder was offering "extras" - items separate from and in addition to the items included in the specifications - when, in fact, these items were included in the specifications and were offered by other bidders?

**ISSUE 4:** Did HCUA violate MISS. CODE ANN. §31-7-13 subsection c(ii) and subsection d(i) by awarding a bid based on the perception that the chosen bidder was offering "extras" - items separate from and in addition to the items included in the specifications - without amending the specifications and reopening the bidding so that other bidders could offer revised bids which would include the "extras"?

**ISSUE 5:** Did HCUA act arbitrarily and capriciously by assigning a supposed market values to the "extras" offered by SA/UP without obtaining any information concerning the current market value of these "extras"?

**ISSUE 6:** Did HCUA violate MISS. CODE ANN. 31-7-13(d)(ii), by failing to adequately explain the calculations used to "adjust" WPSCO's bid upwards and by failing to explain the purported savings which HCUA relied upon in deeming the SA/UP bid to be the lowest bid?

**ISSUE 7:** Is there any justification for HCUA's decision to accept the SA/UP bid and reject the WPSCO bid?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE:**

#### (i) Course of Proceedings

Harrison County Utility Authority ("HCUA") operates a wastewater treatment system which includes wastewater treatment plants and an interceptor system. In August 2006, HCUA issued a Request for Proposals which invited bids for operation and maintenance of these systems. HCUA received three bids as follows:

1. Wastewater Plant Service Co., Inc. ("WPSCO") bid on the interceptor system;

2. Optech bid on the wastwater treatment plants;

3. A bidder self-identified as "S. H. Anthony, Inc. in association with Utility Partners", shortened to "SA/UP", placed a bid on both systems.

HCUA selected the bid of SA/UP.

WPSCO contends that HCUA's decision to accept the SA/UP bid was in violation of the public bid laws and/or was arbitrary and capricious. WPSCO filed a bill of exceptions and a supplementary and amended bill of exceptions (R. 6, 383 )in the Harrison County Circuit Court presenting WPSCO's position. The circuit court ruled in favor of HCUA and this appeal followed.

### (ii) Statement of Facts

ŧ

Harrison County Utility Authority ("HCUA") operates a wastewater treatment system which includes (i) wastewater treatment plants and (ii) an interceptor system consisting of interceptor lines and lift systems <sup>1</sup> (R. 17). Historically, HCUA has treated these operations as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In the bid documents, these systems are occasionally referenced as WWTP (for wastewater treatment plants) and Interceptor O and M (interceptor operations and maintenance).

two different systems and has contracted out responsibility for managing these systems to two different contractors. For example, during the five year contract period ending in October 2006, WPSCO maintained and operated the interceptor lines and Optech maintained and operated the treatment plants <sup>2</sup> (R. 364; HCUA Exhibit M).

ι

i

In August 2006, HCUA issued a Request for Proposals which invited interested contractors to submit bids to maintain and operate these systems (R. 14: WPSCO exhibit A, HCUA exhibit K, pp. 1 and 3):

- (i) a contractor could bid on operation and maintenance of the treatment plants (R: 15: Project No. OM2006P)
- (ii) a contractor could bid on operation and maintenance of the interceptor system (R. 15: Project No. OM2006I)

HCUA's Request for Proposals included specifications identifying the services that HCUA expected the successful bidder to perform in return for the bid price.

In the Request for Proposals, HCUA provided the date of a mandatory pre-proposal meeting, as follows (R. 14: WPSCO Exhibit A, HCUA Exhibit K first page):

## A mandatory pre-proposal meeting will be conducted at the (HCUA) Administrative Office on Wednesday, August 16, 2006 at 9:00 a.m. C.D.T. All proposers must be represented.

Representatives of the following entities attended the pre-bid meeting: WPSCO, Optech, S.H.

Anthony, Inc. ("SA"), and Severn Trent (Record Exerpts Exhibit C; Record . 413).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As this contract period drew to an end, employees of WPSCO and Optech decided to set up competing firms and bid against their former employees. Former employees of WPSCO organized S. H. Anthony, Inc ("SA"); former employees of Optech organized Utility Partners, L.L.C. (R.114: HCUA Exhibit A, SA/UP bid: cover letter 9-15-06; R. 127, 163, 166, 168: sections 5.7, 6.2, 6.6). This set the stage for the current litigation.

At this point, it should be noted that Utility Partners, L.L.C. aka Utility Group,

L.L.C. ("UP") did not have a representative at the mandatory pre-bid meeting. There was a good reason for this: on the date of the mandatory pre-bid meeting, UP did not exist because it had not yet been incorporated. Examination of the records of the Mississippi Secretary of State will show that UP was organized in the state of Georgia on September 8, 2006 (three weeks after the mandatory pre-bid meeting) and UP applied to do business in the state of Mississippi on September 20, 2006 (more than a month after the mandatory pre-bid meeting) (Record Excerpts Exhibit I; R. 409-412).

By the terms of the Request for Proposals, the bids were due no later than 10:00 a.m. on September 15, 2006:

# Written proposals will be accepted until 10:00 a.m. on Friday, September 15, 2006 at the Authority's administrative office ... to be opened September 15, 2006.

On September 15, 2006, when the bidding closed and the bids were opened, three bids had been submitted as follows:

WPSCO bid on the interceptor lines (R. 35);

i.

1

Optech bid on the treatment plants (R. 62);

A bidder which described itself as "S.H. Anthony, Inc. in association with Utility Partners" (self-abbreviated, throughout the bid, as "SA/UP") submitted a bid on both projects <sup>3</sup> (Record Excerpts Exhibit D; R. 110).

It should be noted that, at this point in the proceedings, UP existed as a legal entity because it had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The cover of the bid describes the bid as a "Proposal Prepared by S.H. Anthony, Inc. In association with Utility Partners" (R. 110) and, elsewhere in the bid, the bidder is identified by the abbreviation "SA/UP" and the relationship between S.H. Anthony, Inc. and Utility Partners is variously described as a joint venture, general contractor/subcontractor, "association", "team", and "partnership." HCUA, in its opposition to WPSCO's bill of exceptions, describes the final contract as "the existing contract between the utility authority and SA/UP."

been incorporated in Georgia. However, UP did not apply to do business in Mississippi until September 20, 2006<sup>4</sup> (five days after the bids were due and opened) and, therefore, UP was not authorized to do business in Mississippi and did not have a certificate of responsibility on the date that the bids were due and opened<sup>5</sup> (Record Excerpts Exhibit I; R. 409-412).

Thus, on the face of it, in accepting the SA/UP bid, HCUA has accepted a bid from a bidder who was unqualified and failed to attend the mandatory pre-bid meeting. HCUA attempts to justify this action by arguing that SA was qualified and attended the pre-bid meeting and UP was merely a subcontractor of SA, not a bidder.

However, HCUA's justification is without merit for two reasons. **First,** as explained in the "Argument" section *infra*, every subcontractor hired through a public bid process must be a qualified contractor under Mississippi law. Thus, HCUA cannot eliminate the deficiencies in the bid by characterizing UP as a subcontractor. **Second,** the evidence does not establish that UP acted as a subcontractor of SA in submitting the bid. In fact, the SA/UP contract which purports to establish a general contractor/subcontractor relationship was drafted and signed several weeks **after** HCUA accepted the SA/UP bid, in an effort to meet legal objections to UP's qualifications. The evidence concerning the relationship between SA and UP, and UP's role in the bidding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Careful examination of UP's application to do business in Mississippi will show that the UP official who signed the application dated the application as September 12, 2006 but the stamp placed on the application by the Mississippi Secretary of State (R. 409 - upper right hand corner) shows that the application was filed at 12:00 noon on September 20, 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> It may be worth noting that, when Utility Partners finally applied to do business in Mississippi, several days after the bids were submitted and opened, Utility Partners did not apply under the name "Utility Partners" which is the name used throughout the SA/UP bid. Instead, Utility Partners applied to do business in Mississippi under the name "UP Group, L.L.C." (Record Excerpts Exhibit I; R. 411).

process is, in more detail, as follows.

į

i

The SA/UP bid submitted on September 15, 2006 characterizes the SA/UP relationship in vague and internally contradictory fashion. The cover sheet states that the bid is submitted by "S.H. Anthony, Inc. in association with Utility Partners." (Record Excerpts Exhibit D; R. 110).

The introductory letter which is incorporated into the bid (Record Excerpts Exhibit E, R. 114-115) is printed on **a joint letterhead** with SA's address in large type on the left and UP's address in equally large type on the right, implying an equal relationship between SA and UP. In the body of this letter and in the bid itself, **the term "we"** is used to refer to SA and UP collectively and the relationship between SA and UP is described in five different ways which are ambiguous and internally contradictory:

(i) "S.H. Anthony, Inc. in association with Utility Partners" (R. 110, R. 117)

(ii) "the SA/UP Team" or "the SA/UP management team" (R. 117, 118)

(iii) as a "joint venture" (R. 114);

(iv) as a relationship in which SA will be the general contractor while UP is the subcontractor (R. 115);

(v) as a "partnership" (Record Excerpts Exhibit F, R. 179).

The bid is repeatedly described as "the SA/UP proposal" (see, e.g., R. 117, 118).

Examples of these characterizations, in context, include the following:

"we have come together in this joint venture to continue the level of service and performance you have come to trust" (Record Excerpts Exhibit E, R. 114)

"This proposal is submitted to the Harrison County Utility Authority ... by S. H. Anthony Inc. in association with Utility Partners, L.L.C. (SA/UP)" (R. 117) "S.H. Anthony, as part of a team with our subcontractor, Utility Partners" (R. 117)

"We believe this home **team** advantage provides an important strength **to the SA/UP proposal**" (R. 117)

"Our strategic **partnership** to do this job as a **team** results in ultimate financial savings to the HCUA" (Record Excerpts Exhibit F, R. 179)

The commonest characterizations, which appear in literally dozens of locations throughout the bid, identify the bidder as "the SA/UP Team" and identify the bid as "the SA/UP Proposal."

When the bid is examined to show how the work will be performed, it appears that, in practice, there is to be a division of labor between SA and UP which corresponds to the division in HCUA's Request for Proposal: SA will maintain and operate the interceptors while UP will maintain and operate the wastewater treatment plants.

This division of responsibility starts with the identification of key employees. The proposal describes the qualifications of SA and UP employees to demonstrate that the bidder's employees have the experience and skill necessary to perform the work: SA employees' qualifications are cited to demonstrate that the bidder has sufficient knowledge and experience to maintain and operate the interceptor lines, while UP employees' qualifications are described to demonstrate the bidder's ability to maintain and operate the wastewater plants, (R. 119: HCUA Exhibit A p. 1.3 - "Mr. Sean Anthony ... will continue in his role managing the "interceptor" system"; "Mr. Bobby Berry ... will have overall responsibility for the delivery of the "Wastewater Treatment" component of the operations contract"); (R. 126: HCUA Exhibit A p. 2.5 - organizational chart); (R. 151: HCUA Exhibit A p. 5.1 - Sean Anthony of SA and Bobby Berry of UP "will be leading our team in the operation and maintenance of the Interceptor and Wastewater Treatment facilities, respectively").

The division of responsibility is carried forward in describing how the work will be

performed (Record Excerpts Exhibit F, R. 179: SA/UP bid p. 7.2):

The HCUA interceptors will be managed by S.H. Anthony, Inc. and the Treatment Plants will be managed, operated, and maintained by Utility Partners. Our strategic partnership to do this job as a team results in ultimate financial savings to the HCUA as well as guaranteeing the continued professional operation of facilities.

(R. 179 et seq., R. 110 et seq., SA/UP bid pp. 7.4 et seq. 7.7):

First, the Wastewater Plant Operations. These services will be provided by Utility Partners, L.L.C. under a subcontract to S.H. Anthony, Inc....

S. H. Anthony, Inc. will provide daily operations and maintenance services to the Harrison County Wastewater Management District for their interceptor lines...

Finally, the division of responsibility is reflected in the price. The proposal does not

present a single dollar total intended to cover the cost of both the wastewater and interceptor

projects. Instead, there are separate dollar figures for the wastewater treatment plants and the

interceptor lines, as follows (Record Excerpts Exhibit H, R. 181 - SA/UP bid p. 7.4 et seq. ):

SA/UP bid for interceptor system:	\$ 299, 862
(work to be performed by SA) (R. 184)	
SA/UP bid for wastewater treatment plants:	\$ 2,163,095
(work to be performed by UP) (R. 182)	

A review of these dollar figures will show that when the contributions of SA and UP to the SA/UP proposal are measured in dollar terms, SA's contribution is approximately 12% of the total and UP's contribution is approximately 88% of the total. UP, in terms of the value of the services provided, is unmistakeably the dominant member of the SA/UP association. UP's dominant role may also be inferred from the SA/UP organizational chart (Record Excerpts G, R.

i

126). On this chart, SA is identified as the general contractor and UP is identified as the subcontractor, However, SA managers oversee functions identified in a single column of four boxes exiled to the extreme left edge of the page, while UP managers oversee functions described in forty one boxes organized in eight separate columns occupying the left of center, center, and right sides of the page.

Thus, a casual inspection of the organization chart (Record Excerpts G, R. 126) indicates that SA's role is, literally, peripheral in comparison to the dominant role of UP.

In sum, a review of the bid does not support the conclusion that SA and UP have a general contractor/subcontractor relationship. The bid's characterization of the SA/UP relationship is internally inconsistent. If any characterization of the relationship can be made based on a review of the bid, it is that SA and UP have entered into a joint venture.

The problem with UP's qualifications was apparent when the bids were opened, and competing bidders immediately objected. In an effort to meet these objections, HCUA asked SA/UP to provide evidence of qualification. This is documented in HCUA board minutes. In sum, the time sequence was as follows.

August 16, 2006 - mandatory pre-bid meeting

September 8, 2006 - UP incorporates in Georgia

September 15, 2006 - bids submitted and opened.

September 20, 2006 - UP applies for permission to do business in Mississippi.

On October 5, 2006, the HCUA board voted to accept the SA/UP bid contingent on SA/UP providing evidence which would enable HCUA to beat back objections to UP's lack of qualifications. The October 5 board minutes read (Record Excerpts L, R. 250-251):

-9-

After the Board came out of executive session ... the Board ... made selection of S.H. Anthony and Utility Partners as the O&M contractor ... Mr. Rose made a motion ... to approve the selection of S.H. Anthony and Utility Partners as plant operators for the wastewater plants and the interceptors, contingent on the Authority being furnished evidence of their legal ability to enter into a contract with the Authority, and that such evidence shall be given no later than October 19, 2006" (emphasis addded).

On October 19, 2006, SA/UP provided the Board with a proposed agreement which SA

and UP had not yet signed. This agreement, if and when it should be signed, was intended to serve as evidence of a general contractor/subcontractor relationship between SA and UP. The October 19 board minutes read (Rcord Excerpts M, R. 256):

A proposed subcontract between S.H. Anthony, Inc. and Utility Partners was received on October 18, 2006 and is being reviewed in order to incorporate it into the contract that the Authority will enter with S. H. Anthony. *(emphasis added)* 

On October 25, 2006, the "proposed subcontract" was signed by SA and UP (Record

Excerpts N, R. 605). In sum, the proposed subcontract was more than a month AFTER the bids were submitted and opened and, in fact, the proposed subcontract was signed AFTER the Board voted to accept the SA/UP bid. Thus, HCUA cannot point to the subcontract as evidence that SA was the bidder and UP was merely a subcontractor to the bidder.

It may be worth noting that, throughout the review of the various bids and even during the current litigation, HCUA representatives have described events in a fashion which clearly indicates HCUA's understanding that HCUA entered into an agreement with SA and UP, not merely an agreement with SA. In his formal analysis of the various bids submitted to HCUA, HCUA's engineer refers to three "proposers": Optech, WPSCO, and "S. H. Anthony/Utility Partners (SHA/UP)" (Record Excerpts J, R. 65 et seq). The October 5 minutes, already quoted above, summarize the motion through which the SA/UP bid was accepted as follows:

ι

1

÷

the Board ... made selection of S.H. Anthony and Utility Partners as the O&M contractor ... Mr. Rose made a motion ... to approve the selection of S.H. Anthony and Utility Partners as plant operators (*emphasis added*)

In its "Corrected Bill of Exceptions" filed in response to WPSCO's original bill of exceptions, HCUA expresses its intention "to defend its selection of the Operation and Maintenance ("O&M") proposal **submitted by S. H. Anthony, Inc. and Utility Partners, Inc.**" HCUA insists that "**the Authority's selection of SA/UP's proposal** was the most qualified proposal was not arbitrary and capricious" and HCUA argues that it would be imprudent "to now cause the Authority to rescind **its contract with SA/UP**" (R. 108, paragraph 76). HCUA concludes (R. 107):

## The Authority prays that this Court will not disturb the existing contract between the Utility Authority and SA/UP

In its supplementary response, HCUA again refers to "the existing contract between the HCUA and SA/UP" (R. 434).

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