IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Case No. 2008-CA-01815

WASTEWATER PLANT SERVICE CO., INC. Plaintiff/Appellant

٧.

HARRISON COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY Defendant/Appellee

Response to Appeal from a final judgment rendered by the Circuit Court of Harrison County, First Judicial District, docket no. A2401-2006-00413, the Honorable Jerry O. Terry, Judge, presiding.

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Brief of Appellee

Filed on behalf of

HARRISON COUNTY UTILITY AUTHORITY

Respectfully submitted,

Leonard A. Blackwell, II
MS Bar No.

Jason R. Savarese
MS Bar No.

Blackwell's Lawyers and Counselors
1613 23rd Avenue
Gulfport, MS 39501
Tel: (228) 864-1484
Fax: (228) 868-6484

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal is the result of a) sour grapes on the part of WPSCO, which was not selected to negotiate a contract with the HCUA because it did not offer the same services, as did SA/UP, in WPSCO's RFP proposal submitted by the clearly established RFP response deadline of September 15, 2006, and for other reasons, and b) a fundamental misunderstanding of the difference between an "invitation for bids" and a "request for proposals" under Mississippi law on the part of the Appellant, WPSCO.

WPSCO incorrectly states that the Mississippi Public Bid Act applies in this matter, as it claims the HCUA solicited "bids" for the operation and maintenance of its facilities. Time after time, and throughout its Appeal Brief, WPSCO labels the HCUA's August 2006 RFP and subsequently submitted proposals as "bids."

The difference between "bids" and "proposals" is an important distinction that must be made in this case. To be clear, the HCUA published a Request for Proposals in August 2006, and never published an invitation for bids in this matter.

The status of Utility Partners is also mischaracterized by WPSCO. Utility Partners was not required to have a representative present at the pre-proposal meeting; the HCUA specifically reserved the right to waive informalities, and did so in that instance. In addition, Utility Partners applied to do business in Mississippi on September 12, 2006, not September 20, 2006. (R. 409-412). However, S.H. Anthony, the prime contractor, was licensed to do business in Mississippi on the day the RFP responses were submitted and opened. As such, Utility Partners did not need to be so licensed. Finally, Utility Partners was not required to obtain a certificate of responsibility, since a) S.H. Anthony, the prime contractor/proposer possessed a certificate of responsibility when the proposals were opened by the HCUA, and b) a private company, such as Utility Partners, that offers its *services* (as opposed to offering to perform construction work) is not required to have a certificate of responsibility, as the Mississippi Attorney General has stated many times.

As a matter of institutional necessity, HCUA is the proper body to determine whether, WPSCO's proposal was lower, more qualified, and better than SA/UP's proposal. Based on Mr. Pahlavan's calculations for the HCUA Technical Committee, the HCUA is confident that SA/UP's proposal was lower than WPSCO's.

However, whether the amount of one proposal was lower than the other is not the final determination to be made by a public body like the HCUA; rather, the HCUA must determine, under Miss. Code 31-7-13(r), which proposal is "the most qualified proposal or proposals on the basis of price, technology and other relevant factors...". With such discretion under the law, and based upon sound and logical reasons, the HCUA made its decision and selected the proposal submitted by SA/UP as the most qualified proposal.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1: Did HCUA deviate from the requirements laid down it is request for proposals by giving a contract to a bidder who did not have a representative present at the mandatory pre-bid meeting?

ISSUE 2: Did HCUA violate Miss. Code Ann. § 31-3-15 and Miss. Code § 31-3-21 by accepting a bid submitted by two corporations "in association" when under the terms of the bid:

12% of the work would be performed by a corporation which had a certificate of responsibility;

and

88% of the work would be performed by a corporation which did not have a certificate of responsibility?

First, the HCUA objects to WPSCO's characterization of this case as involving "bidders" and "bids". It is clear on the face of the document published by the HCUA in August 2006 that the case at bar involves a Request for Proposals, not an invitation for bids.

Secondly, Section 31-7-13(r) (2009) of the Mississippi Code regulates public sewage collection and disposal contracts. Titled "Solid waste contract proposal procedure," the statute requires public bodies to "issue publicly a request for proposals concerning the specifications for such services which shall be advertised for in the same manner as provided in this section for seeking bids for purchases which involve an expenditure of more than the amount provided in paragraph (c) of this section" when the "contract for sewage collection or disposal...involves an

expenditure of more than Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00)." Section 31-7-13(r) goes on to say that:

Any request for proposals when issued shall contain terms and conditions relating to price, financial responsibility, technology, legal responsibilities and other relevant factors as are determined by the governing authority or agency to be appropriate for inclusion; all factors determined relevant by the governing authority or agency or required by this paragraph (r) shall be duly included in the advertisement to elicit proposals. After responses to the request for proposals have been duly received, the governing authority or agency shall select the most qualified proposal or proposals on the basis of price, technology and other relevant factors and from such proposals, but not limited to the terms thereof, negotiate and enter contracts with one or more of the persons or firms submitting proposals.

Miss. Code § 31-7-13(r) (2009).

In order to rebut and correct the Appellant's oft misused references to "bids" and bid laws, the Appellee would supplement the record with Chapter III of the Mississippi State Official Procurement Manual (hereinafter "the Manual"), attached hereto as Exhibit "E", which clearly differentiates between an "invitation for bids" and a "request for proposals". Section 3.101.01(2) of the Manual defines "Invitation for Bids" as "all documents, whether attached or incorporated by reference, utilized for soliciting bids." Section 3.101.01(4) of the Manual then defines "proposals" as being "documents, whether attached or incorporated by reference, utilized for soliciting proposals." Section 3.102.03.1 of the Manual covers a situation where only one bid is received by a public body. A separate Section, 3.102.03.2, covers a situation where only one proposal is received by a public body. The State felt so strongly that a "bid"

is distinct from a "proposal" that it provided fifteen (15) pages in Chapter III of the Manual to procedures exclusively covering bids (pages 3-7 through 3-21), and in a separate area of Chapter III, it allotted another eight (8) pages dedicated to procedures covering requests for proposals (pages 3-22 through 3-29).

Ferguson allows an appellee to argue that a lower judgment can be affirmed, or an appeal rejected, based on "any grounds," even if those grounds were not raised below.

Ferguson v. Watkins, 448 So.2d 271, 275 (Miss. 1984). In addition to the Procurement Manual having the weight of law as a regulatory document governing public agencies, HCUA would argue that Ferguson allows the Manual's introduction as part of the HCUA's Appellee response.

As shown in Exhibit "C", (r. 409-412) Utility Partners filed its Application for Registration of a Foreign Limited Liability Corporation with the Mississippi Secretary of State on September 12, 2006, prior to the September 15 submission deadline of the HCUA's Request for Proposals. Additionally, at the time of the proposal submission by S.H. Anthony and Utility Partners, S.H. Anthony was properly registered with the State of Mississippi, possessing a Certificate of Responsibility, in addition to its Class III Pollution Control Operator's License, held by S.H. Anthony principal Sean Anthony. The HCUA Board did not vote as stated by Appellant "to accept the SA/UP bid contingent on SA/UP providing evidence which would enable HCUA to beat back objections to UP's lack of qualifications," despite WPSCO's claim to that effect on page 9 of its Statement of Facts and page 23 of its Argument, Issues 1 and 2. In reality, the HCUA voted to accept the proposal (not bid) submitted by SA/UP, contingent on SA/UP proving that it was not restrained from entering into a contract with the HCUA under the then-existing TRO. It was never the opinion of the HCUA that Utility Partners might lack any qualifications for the work on which it and S.H. Anthony had submitted a

proposal. To the extent that WPSCO attacks the October 5 and 19, 2006 minutes of the HCUA, HCUA would show that under *Hawkins*, "It is beyond doubt the rule, and it is well settled, that the minutes of a municipality import verity and that evidence will not be received in a collateral action to vary or contradict such record when regular and complete on its face." *Hawkins v. City of West Point*, 200 Miss. 616, 625 (Miss. 1946).

The Mississippi Attorney General has repeatedly held that service contracts (involving non-construction work) between a private contractor and a public body do not require the contractor to possess a certificate of responsibility. Miss. Ag. Op., Meadows, 2001 WL 1513805 (Oct. 26, 2001) (maintenance of public sand beach by private contractor does not require a certificate of responsibility); Miss. Ag. Op., Bowman, (April 30, 1999) (removal of damaged tree limbs located on public property does not require certificate of responsibility); Miss. Ag. Op., Deaton (Dec. 8, 1980) (demolition contractor not required to possess certificate of responsibility). The Attorney General has also stated that "public purchase laws codified at Sections 31-7-1, et. seq., are not applicable to the acquisition of any services unless the services are part of a contract which includes the purchase of commodities, equipment, or furniture or construction." Miss. Ag. Op., Meadows, (Oct. 26, 2001) (citing Miss. Ag. Op., Runnels, (Aug. 2, 1996); Miss. Ag. Op., Cronin, (Feb. 10, 1993); Miss. Ag. Op., Green, (Jan. 31, 1990); Miss. Ag. Op., Grubbs, (Dec. 14, 1987); Miss. Ag. Op., Campbell, (March 11, 1986)).

It is clear that 1) the above statutes gives the HCUA the authority to consider the price and the technology offered and other relevant factors when deciding on which submitted proposal is the most qualified, if any, and (2) the Board has some discretion as to what factors it considers in such a review. Thus, the Utility Authority is the proper entity to choose the most qualified proposal. The HCUA followed the procedures to publish and RFP and select the

select the most qualified proposal or proposals on the basis of price, technology and other relevant factors. As such, Issues 1 and 2 are without merit.

Though the HCUA did state in its RFP that "A mandatory pre-proposal meeting will be conducted,...all proposers must be represented," the HCUA also stated in the RFP that "The Authority further reserves the right...to waive any informalities deemed to be in the best interest of the Authority," which would include the attendance of company representatives at the pre-proposal meeting. There is a handful of case law in Mississippi discussing RFPs, but none do so in detail. With regard to bids, which the HCUA again stresses is not involved in the case at bar, the waiver of informalities is allowed and has been documented in Mississippi cases. W & W Contractors v. Tunica Cty. Airport Commission, 881 So.2d 358 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004); Landmark Structures, Inc. v. City Council For Meridian 826 So.2d 746, 749 (Miss 2002). As such, the HCUA used its discretion in determining that attendance at the pre-proposal meeting could be waived to benefit the HCUA's best interests. As such, WPSCO's Issue 1 is without merit.

Also in response to Issue 2, the Mississippi Supreme Court has upheld the Mississippi State Board of Contractor's determination that a contractor was not required to possess a certificate of responsibility for a public contract if less than 50% of the services to be performed under the contract were not of a "maintenance" nature. Clancy's Lawn Care & Landscaping, Inc. v. Miss. State Bd. Of Contractors, 707 So.2d 1080, 1085 (Miss. 1997). Despite its title of "Agreement for Operations, Maintenance, and Management Services for the Harrison County Utility Authority," the 2006 Contract between the HCUA and S.H. Anthony (hereinafter "the Contract") is actually a contract for the operations of the HCUA's wastewater lines and pumps. (Exhibit "F") (R. 251, et. seq.) That is, the use of the word "maintenance" in the title

of the Contract belies its *de minimis* role in the overall services performed under the Contract.

As shown in Exhibit "G", and allowed under the Ferguson decision, S.H. Anthony receives approximately \$275,000 per year for its operations services under the Contract. Of this amount, S.H. Anthony spends approximately \$233,000 annually on operations labor costs. This is contrasted sharply with the amount S.H. Anthony spends annually on maintenance labor costs, being a paltry \$17,000. Thus, the amount spent on operations is approximately 13.7 times as much as the amount spent on maintenance by S.H. Anthony. The same holds true for the work performed by Utility Partners, also shown in Exhibit "G". Utility Partners receives approximately \$2,310,000 from its contract with S.H. Anthony for its operation of the HCUA's wastewater plants. Annually, Utility Partners spends approximately \$1,650,000 in operation labor costs. However, Utility Partners spends just \$150,000 annually on maintenance costs. Thus, the amount spent on operations by Utility Partners is approximately 11 times as much as the amount spent on maintenance. Additionally, the Contract between S.H. Anthony and the HCUA prevents S.H. Anthony from spending more than \$100 for repairs to any one vehicle, equipment or structure, with an aggregate limit of \$15,000 annually. (Exhibit "F", page 4, Section 2.20) (R. 654). Any amount above this upper limit requires HCUA approval.

Since less than 50% of the work being performed by S.H. Anthony or by Utility Partners constituted "maintenance," a certificate of responsibility was not required by the of Utility Partners by the HCUA. This issue is without merit.

ISSUE 3: Did HCUA violate Miss. Code Ann. §31-7-13 subsection c(ii) and subsection d(i) by awarding a bid based on the perception that the chosen bidder was offering "extras"- items separate from and in addition to the items included

in the specifications- when, in fact, these items were included in the specifications and were offered by other bidders?

ISSUE 4: Did HCUA violate Miss. Code Ann. §31-7-13 subsection c(ii) and subsection d(i) by awarding a bid based on the perception that the chosen bidder was offering "extras"- items separate from and in addition to the items included in the specifications- without amending the specifications and reopening the bidding so that other bidders could offer revised bids which would include the "extras"?

ISSUES 3 and 4 are without merit, as the HCUA did not publish an invitation for bids; the HCUA published a Request for Proposals, and followed the law accordingly. To the extent that WPSCO categorizes as "extras" the services offered by SA/UP which were not offered by WPSCO by the deadline established by the HCUA (September 15, 2006), the HCUA would again point out that these services were in fact required in the RFP specifications. The fact is that SA/UP did actually and specifically state in its proposal (Exhibit "A") (R. 110, et. seq.) that it would offer several services that were not found in WPSCO's proposal, (Exhibit "B") (R. 35, et. seq.) which it submitted to the UA by the submission deadline of September 15, 2006. These additional services included infrared surveying of UA's pump stations every three (3) years (for preventive maintenance), and draw down testing of the pump stations (to determine their volume of wastewater flow) by an engineer, paid for by S.H.

Anthony (Exhibit "A", p. 7.8) (R. 185). Once the submission deadline had passed and only after an opportunity to learn of the specifics of SA/UP's proposal did WPSCO contact the HCUA to claim it also would include those services in its proposal, at no additional charge to the HCUA

Since WPSCO did not specify in its proposal that was submitted to the HCUA by the RFP deadline any mention of infrared surveying or drawdown testing as part of the services it alleges that it was prepared to offer for the contract price stated in its proposal, the HCUA was under no duty to consider a statement made by WPSCO after the proposals, including SA/UP's proposal, were unsealed. As such, this issue is without merit. WPSCO had the same opportunity

as did SA/UP and Optech to specify exactly which services it was offering and at what price.

WPSCO failed to include such services in its RFP response by the submission deadline.

ISSUE 5: Did HCUA act arbitrarily and capriciously by assigning a supposed market values (sic) to the "extras" offered by SA/UP without obtaining any information concerning the current market value of these "extras"?

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